HSC Pathology Blueprint Programme

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)

Version 1.0 03 December 2024

Contents

	Strategic Context & Background to the Programme	.3
A	. Background relevant to Equality Impact Assessment	.3
	The HSC Pathology Blueprint Programme	. 5
	Decision on whether to Proceed with an HSC Pathology Agency, informed by EqIA	.6
	Programme Assessment of the potential impact of establishing a regional pathology management structure on groups identified in Section 75 legislation.	.7
	Process followed by the Programme to conduct its assessment	.7
	Impacts of the Programme	.7
В	Reason for Equality Impact Assessment	.8
С	Person responsible for the programme/activity	.8
D	. Evidencing Impact	.8
	Quantitative Data	.8
	Qualitative Data1	13
	Potential Impacts Detected1	13
	Any gaps in evidence to assess the impact of the programme/activity1	16
E.	EqIA Outcome1	L 7
F.	Action and Monitoring1	8
G	. Date of Next Review1	18
Н	. Authors1	18
A	nnexes	19
	A - Letter from SRO to Chief Executives and Staff – decision to proceed with the design of a Patholog Special Agency	
	B – Questions included in the online feedback form for responses to EqIA Public Consultation1	19
	C – Equality Screening on Proposals for Pathology Modernisation 20161	19

A. Background relevant to Equality Impact Assessment

Strategic Context & Background to the Programme

- 1. In 2006, the report of a review of Northern Ireland Health system's Pathology Services by Dame Ingrid Allen was published by the Department of Health (then DHSSPS). The report recommended far-reaching reform to address significant challenges that these services were facing including ageing laboratory built-infrastructure, ageing information systems, sample transport, staffing and rapid technological growth that could bring greater diagnostic capability, but at significant cost. The Allen recommendations were along similar lines of reform proposed for Pathology services in England by Lord Carter of Coles (2006), which recommended driving economies of scale through consolidation. Although some reform took place, many of the proposals proved difficult to implement since laboratories are required on all acute hospital sites and pathology services were, and are, managed within five separate Health and Social Care (HSC) Trusts.
- 2. In 2009, the Department of Health (DoH) established the NI Pathology Network to bring together stakeholders of HSC Pathology Services to drive consistency and appropriate standardisation and address the challenges pathology services still faced. The Network has been able to make some progress within its remit of developing and informing regional strategic developments and policy. However, this remit does not extend to operational service delivery. HSC Trusts and the Northern Ireland Blood Transfusion Service (NIBTS) are statutorily responsible for pathology service operational delivery.
- 3. In 2016, the DoH published "Systems not Structures", a report produced by an expert, clinically led panel chaired by Professor Rafael Bengoa to inform debate on the best configuration of HSC services in NI. The report identified Pathology Services as one of the HSC services in most need of reform. It was informed by work undertaken through the NI Pathology Network that showed that many of the challenges outlined years before continued to exist. The issues recognised in "Systems not Structures" reflected the experience of the Pathology Network, that the current pathology management structures, whilst effective in themselves, could more effectively address challenges collectively for the region if there was appropriate regional operational management in place to enable that.
- 4. In the same year, the DoH published "Health & Wellbeing 2026: Delivering Together" (2016) which included an objective to conduct a public consultation on three proposals to modernise HSC Pathology Services. One of the proposals was to establish a regional pathology management structure. The other proposals were to modernise pathology information systems, and to consolidate non-urgent pathology testing onto fewer locations, similar to the approach being adopted in England following the review of NHS Pathology Services by Lord Carter of Coles (2006, 2008). The proposals, along with an Equality Screening exercise (<u>Annex C</u>), were published for a 12-week Public Consultation by the then Minister for Health, Michelle O'Neill, in November 2016.
- 5. Following the public consultation, a two-stage report of the consultation responses was considered by the DoH alongside emerging evidence of the experiences and learning from pathology transformation initiatives in NHS England initiated by the Carter Review. The Royal College of Pathologists "Consolidation Articles" (2017) identified a number of important factors for successful transformation, including integrated pathology IT systems, ability to manage a network of labs budgets as a single budget, and the staff as a single staff body. In addition, the Department conducted

a Project Assessment Review (PAR) of the HSC Pathology Services Modernisation Initiative to confirm that the proposals remained valid, which they did.

- 6. In the absence of an Assembly, the DoH Transformation Implementation Group (TIG) endorsed key policy principles for the transformation of pathology services in 2018:
 - 6.1. Urgent and non-urgent pathology services will continue to be provided on an integrated basis on existing hospital sites.
 - 6.2. The future organisational structure for HSC Pathology Services will be located in a new single regional health services management structure which will include NIBTS.
 - 6.3. The regional Pathology Information Management System (NIPIMS) Programme will continue to be taken forward subject to business case approval and available funding.
- 7. Following publication of these principles in 2018, the DoH established the Pathology Transformation Portfolio later the same year. This included three programmes of work:
 - 7.1. NI Pathology Network's programme to drive forward the delivery of pathology transformation;
 - 7.2. Replacing NI Pathology Information Management Systems through the NIPIMS Programme;
 - **7.3.** Planning for the establishment of a programme to explore options for establishing a regional pathology management structure.
- 8. In early 2020, the Covid 19 Pandemic occurred. The Pathology Network and service focussed on the establishment of a new rapidly deployed covid testing service. The Covid 19 Pandemic underlined the importance of HSC pathology services to the safe, effective functioning of HSC clinical services.
- 9. In November 2021, the then Health Minister, Robin Swann, published the <u>DoH's policy on Pathology</u>. It sets out the DoH's future vision for HSC Pathology Services and gives four commitments that reflect the policy principles set out by TIG in 2018. The policy commitments are:
 - 9.1. The delivery model for HSC Pathology Services will continue to provide urgent and non-urgent laboratory testing on an integrated basis on the existing hospital sites, subject to further consideration within the context of any future reconfiguration of hospital-based services and associated business case appraisal.
 - 9.2. The future functions for the planning, management, governance, finance and workforce management for HSC Pathology Services will be located in a new, single regional management structure. The Department's working assumption is that this could be in the form of a health service Special Agency, to include NIBTS, subject to business case appraisal of all potential options for the new structure, and available funding for any new investment requirement.
 - 9.3. The DoH supports the replacement of current laboratory information systems with a single, regional Laboratory Information Management System (LIMS) and a regional Blood Production & Tracking System via the NIPIMS Programme. These systems are a key enabler of modern, world-class Pathology Services. The NIPIMS Programme will continue to be taken forward by the Digital Health and Care NI Strategy Board and HSC Business Services Organisation (BSO) subject to business case approval and available funding* [*both now well underway].
 - 9.4. The DoH supports the Programme of regional transformation initiatives, currently underway and led by the Pathology Network in partnership with HSC Trusts, which are aimed at addressing existing service challenges and enabling wider service transformation by delivering the following:
 - a regional Pathology Workforce and Training Plan;
 - regional standardisation of laboratory processes to underpin NIPIMS;
 - the creation of a single management structure;
 - a regional Quality and Regulatory Framework for HSC Pathology Services; and
 - a long-term Clinical Effectiveness Strategy.

The HSC Pathology Blueprint Programme

- 10. In January 2022, the HSC Pathology Blueprint Programme was set up by the DoH to explore options for the establishment of a regional HSC pathology services management structure. It is one of three inter-related programmes described in DoH Policy Statement "Modernising HSC Pathology Services" described in the previous section.
- 11. The Programme aim is to produce a design (or "Blueprint"), in the form of recommendations to the DoH, on the optimum management structure and operating model for HSC Pathology Services incorporating the NIBTS and the functions of the NI Pathology Network.
- 12. Establishment of the new management structure is subject to approval of a business case, design, and associated deliverables by the DoH.
- 13. The Programme has now coproduced a design for a regional pathology management structure with stakeholders, ensuring that there was representation from key groups throughout all of the work. This involved the Programme engaging and working collaboratively with stakeholders, using the "Better Business Cases" guidance, to:
 - 13.1. Agree what to include in the design, identify sources of evidence and best practice that could contribute to creating the design, including establishing a Critical Friends Network for the Programme to make sure that the work would benefit from understanding the experiences of other similar programmes of work in the UK and Ireland, as well as learning from transformation undertaken in the HSC.
 - 13.2. Identify potential qualitative and quantitative benefits that could be achieved by having a regional pathology management structure.
 - 13.3. Identify all potential risks associated with creating a regional pathology management structure.
 - 13.4. Identify all potential options for the organisational form that such a structure could take.
 - 13.5. Shortlist the most appropriate options using the Better Business Cases Options Framework and selecting from these the preferred way forward for the design, which was determined through option appraisal as an HSC Pathology Services Special Agency. This option was assessed as being capable of delivering the greatest potential benefit and carrying the least potential risk. Subsequent emerging learning from Pathology Networks in England supports this conclusion.
 - 13.6. Create the Agency design around the preferred way forward in conjunction with stakeholders and consulting widely on it, using feedback to help shape and improve it.
 - 13.7. Identify the resources required to deliver the design.
 - 13.8. Cost all shortlisted options.
 - 13.9. Develop a high-level Outline Transition Plan.
 - 13.10. Conduct three impact assessments:
 - an Equality Impact Assessment to determine any potential impact on Section 75 Groups (this document).
 - a Rural Needs Assessment.
 - a Data Privacy Impact Screening assessment.
- 14. Throughout the work, the Programme has communicated with stakeholders about the change and key decisions made during the process. In July 2023, the Programme Senior Responsible Owner (SRO) wrote to Chief Executives and Staff to inform them that the design would take the shape of an HSC

Special Agency that delivers all HSC pathology services, the NIBTS, as well as the functions of the Northern Ireland Pathology Network. It advised that:

- 14.1. In line with the Programme's planning assumptions and principles, it is envisaged by the DoH that all staff directly affected by this development will remain HSC employees. For the majority, this will be within the new Agency, with some clinical practitioners (consultant scientists and medical staff) potentially remaining HSC Trust employees depending on the future arrangements agreed with these groups.
- 14.2. It is expected that the NIBTS will be incorporated into this new Agency in its entirety, avoiding the need for the creation of an additional HSC arm's length body. The existing NIBTS governance costs will, therefore, contribute to those of a new Pathology Special Agency.

<u>Annex A</u> includes a copy of this correspondence.

Decision on whether to Proceed with an HSC Pathology Agency, informed by EqIA.

- 15. The design, a business case, the impact assessments and an outline transition plan have recently been submitted to the DoH and Minister for Health for consideration on whether to proceed with the "Transition Phase" of the Programme (also called "Phase 2"). During Phase 2, detailed design of the operating arrangements for a future Pathology Special Agency would be undertaken and a detailed plan for transitioning from the current management arrangements to a Pathology Agency would be developed. If a decision is made to move into Phase 2, it is expected that this would be made by the Minister around the middle of 2025.
- 16. Phase 2 is likely to take around two years to complete. At the end of that period, an updated business case would be submitted to the DoH to secure funds to establish a Pathology Agency. It is envisaged that, if it goes ahead, the Agency would not be established before April 2028.
- 17. The Minister's decision will be informed by a 13-week public consultation on this EqIA, that the DoH will publish. The EqIA Consultation and Feedback Form is available on the Consultation page of the Department's website at this link. For information, <u>Annex B</u> of this report lists the questions asked as part of the public consultation. During the consultation period, it is anticipated that feedback will be received from the public in relation to what this report says about the likely impacts on section 75 groups of the policy change, establishing an HSC Pathology Special Agency.
- 18. The draft high-level design for the Agency and the draft Outline Transition Plan are available for review <u>at this link</u>.
- 19. All feedback from the EqIA consultation will be collated to determine any potential impacts that have not been identified or properly understood in the EqIA, and whether any changes might be required to the design or transition plan to address these. Feedback and any recommendations will be considered by the DoH and Minister alongside the EqIA, the business case, proposed design, Outline Transition Plan and other impact assessments.
- 20. It is anticipated that if the consultation process and the Minister's recommendations are that changes to the design are made on the basis of this consultation, these would be made in Phase 2. This would involve engagement with any impacted groups to ensure that any changes required appropriately address the concerns raised.

Programme Assessment of the potential impact of establishing a regional pathology management structure on groups identified in Section 75 legislation.

Process followed by the Programme to conduct its assessment.

- 21. Having established in July 2023 that the design would be developed in the form of a Pathology Agency, the Programme documented how the establishment of an Agency might impact a range of different stakeholders, foremost of which was the Pathology Staff, and those who use Pathology services (those who request pathology tests for HSC service users).
- 22. In order to determine this, the Programme has consulted with stakeholders to identify any potential impacts on staff in general, and with regards to the groups in Section 75 legislation, as well as in respect of rural needs and data privacy. The feedback received is presented in this report (EqIA), the Rural Needs Assessment, a Data Privacy Impact Screening, and has been considered and is reflected in the design as it has developed.
- 23. In February 2024, the programme ran two stakeholder workshops to begin to assess the potential impact of the project on Section 75 groups, on rural needs and data privacy. With regards to potential equality impacts, the workshops provided an early indication that there did not appear to be any likely major impact on staff, including any Section 75 groups. The Programme committed to ongoing investigation of this as the design developed through Phase 1 to ensuring that any potential impacts were identified and considered throughout the design process.
- 24. In March 2024, the outcome of these workshops was shared with Programme Workstreams who were developing the design to ensure that the design took appropriate account of feedback received.
- 25. In June 2024, the draft design was published online for stakeholders to review and provide feedback on the Programme via an online feedback form. During June 2024, the Programme Team also met with stakeholders, in-person and virtually, to present elements of the design and secure their feedback. At these events, stakeholders were asked to think about any potential impacts be they equality, rural needs or data privacy. Their comments helped to shape the ongoing design and assessment of potential impacts.
- 26. The Programme also gathered information about the profile of the workforce that could be impacted by the project, including Pathology and Corporate staff. A high-level summary of this is set out in later sections of this report. This information helped to consider whether there might be particular impacts on any Section 75 group.
- 27. All of this engagement with stakeholders and data gathering has informed this Equality Impact Assessment.

Impacts of the Programme.

- 28. The main group impacted by the change to regional management is the Laboratory Service staff. Pathology services will remain on the same locations and staff in the same roles and locations. It is not anticipated that patients or those who request pathology tests for patients will be impacted as a result of transitioning to a regional pathology Agency, since there is no change planned to the way patients, or those who request pathology tests, interact with pathology services.
- 29. The Programme Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) document details the potential impacts of an HSC Pathology Services Special Agency, including on different groups of staff. The Programme is also publishing key principles for HSC staff relevant to the work. These will be available on the Programme webpage, <u>via this link</u>.

B. Reason for Equality Impact Assessment

Please delete as applicable:

- Proposed new programme/ activity
- Proposed change to an existing programme/ activity
- Undertaking a review of an existing programme/ activity
- Other (please state):

C. Person responsible for the programme/ activity

Senior Responsible Owner:	Professor Sir Michael McBride,
Job title:	Chief Medical Officer, Northern Ireland HSC
Department:	Department of Health

D. Evidencing Impact

This section includes information available about the people who will be involved in and/or impacted by the programme (e.g. demographic info, scoping of need etc).

It includes quantitative and qualitative data and information.

Quantitative Data

The Programme wanted to understand the profile of Pathology and Corporate services staff with respect to the Section 75 groups.

Data in the tables below was gathered from HSC Trusts and NIBTS and relates to the staff involved in the delivery of Pathology services, as well as staff employed in the corporate functions that provide support to Pathology services including, but not limited to, Human Resources, Finance and Estates.

The data below is the information obtained from HSC Trusts and NIBTS in the first table of each section, aggregated to regional level, with the Census Data from 2021 below it, for comparison.

ategory	What is the n lower uptake			-			-	-			imple, a		
iender	All Trusts/N	ts/NIB		Female	Male	Not assign							
	Totals	Totals			1119	702	()					
			1821		61.4%	38.6%	0.0)%					
	Census Data	2021											
		Category			Male	9	Fe	Female					
	CE	NSUS 2021			49.19	%	50).81%					
	(<u>NISRA Censu</u>	<u>s 2021 Male</u>	/ <u>NISRA</u>	<u>Cens</u>	<u>us 2021 F</u>	<u>emale</u>)							
ge	Organisatio n	Trusts/N	IIBTS	16- 24	25-34	35-44	45-54	55-59	60- 64	65 and over	Not assigne d		
	Totals	182	1	64	496	508	409	178	100	66	0		
				3.5	27.2	27.9	22.5%	9.8%	5.5	3.6	0.0%		
				%	%	%			%	%			
	0-14 15-39 40-64		365, 594, 617	300									
	65-84		-	617,100 287,200			32.42%						
	85+		39,4				2.07%						
	(NISRA Censu												
eligion	Organ- Tr isation	usts/NIBTS	Prote	estant	Cath	olic	Perceive Neither		Other	N	lot assigned		
	Totals	1821	ļ	560		917	270)	66		0		
			30	0.7%	5	0.4%	15.3	%	3.6%		0.0%		
	• 45.7 • 1.50 Philo	ent Census d 0% (827,500 0% (869,800 % (28,500) o osophies.) stated) of the f the p	d that e popu opulat	they were Ilation we tion belon	e Protesta re either ged to or	Catholic o had been	r brough brought	it up as (: up in of	Catholio ther rel			
	Philo	osophies. % (177,400)	neithe	-		-		_			igions		

Opinion	Organ- isation	Trusts/			Broadly Unionist	Othe	r I do not wish to answer		t assigned				
	Totals	s 182		128 '.0%	154 8.5%	159 8.79			merged				
Manital	 Population level published by the Northern Ireland Life and Times Survey (2021) suggests that of the NI population: 32% consider themselves to be a Unionist. 26% consider themselves to be a Nationalist. 38% consider themselves to be Neither Unionist nor Nationalist. Other/ don't know - 4%. 												
Marital Status	Organ - isatio n	Trusts/NIBT S	Married / civil partnershi p	Divorce d	Singl e	Separate d	Widow/e r	Unknov n	v Not assigne d (other)				
	Totals	1821	829	97	503	4	5	97	286				
			45.5%	5.3%	27.6 %	0.2%	0.3%	5.3%	% 15.7%				
		-	00) stated the	ey were sin	gle.		nership.						
	• 6 • 6 • 3	5.40% (96,400 5.00% (91,000) stated they) stated they) stated they	ey were sin were wido were divor	gle. wed. ced.		iersnip.						
Depende nt Status	• 6 • 6 • 3	5.40% (96,400 5.00% (91,000 3.80% (57,300 ensus 2021 Ma) stated they) stated they) stated they arital Status)	ey were sin were wido were divor	gle. wed. ced. rated.	ts N	lo – do not ha ny dependen		Not assigned				
-	• 6 • 6 • 3 (<u>NISRA Ce</u>	5.40% (96,400 5.00% (91,000 3.80% (57,300 ensus 2021 Ma ation Trus S) stated they) stated they) stated they arital Status)	ey were sin were wido were divor were separ	gle. wed. ced. rated.	ts N	lo – do not ha						
-	• 6 • 6 • 3 (<u>NISRA Ce</u> Organisa	5.40% (96,400 5.00% (91,000 3.80% (57,300 ensus 2021 Ma ation Trus S) stated they () stated they () stated they (arital Status) ts/NIBT Ye	ey were sin were wido were divor were separ	gle. wed. ced. rated. lependen	ts N	lo – do not ha ny dependen		assigned				

Disability	Organis	ation Ti	usts/NIB	TS	No	Yes	;	Not assigned				
	Te	tele	4024		677		-0	1100				
	10	tals	1821	-	573 31.5		50 7%	1198 65.8%				
					01.0							
	Population level Official Statistics for disability in Northern Ireland show:											
		40% longstand Ireland First R	-	•	limiting	and 10%	non-lim	iting illness) (<u>Health S</u>	urvey N	<u>orthern</u>	
	Census data 2021 Different types of disability were explored in the last Census: 1,050,500 regard themselves as having a disability or long-term health problem which has an impact of their day-to-day activities, including:											
	• • • • • • •	Deafness or p Blindness or p Communicatio Mobility or de A learning, int An emotional, Long-term pai Shortness of k Frequent conf ensus 2021 Ch ards to the 2.7	eartial sigh on difficul exterity di cellectual, psycholo in or disco oreath or fusion or n fusion or n	nt loss – ty – 1.9 fficulty - social, o porfort - difficult memory	• 1.8% (3 % (35,40 – 12.4% or behav r mental – 11.6% y breath / loss – 2)	4,000) 00) (235,700 vioural dif health co (220,300) ing – 10.3 % (37,80) ficulty - onditior 3% (195 0)	n – 8.7% (165, ,800)	100)	n of the	nature of	
	those dis	abilities but w me that all dis	vill ensure	that, th	nrough p	lanning a	nd desi					
Ethnicity	Orga n- isatio n	Trusts/NIB TS	е	Black Africa n	India n	Chines e	Pakist ni	ta Irish Travell er	Mixe d Ethni c Grou p	Oth er	Not assign ed	
	Total s	1821	1168	3	4	2	2	1	32	119	490	
	•		64.1 %	0.2%	0.2%	0.1%	0.1%	6 0.1%	1.8%	6.5%	26.9%	

Category	CENSUS 2021
White	1,837,575 96.55%
Irish Traveller	2,609 0.14%
Roma	1,529 0.08%
Indian	9,881 0.52%
Chinese	9,495 0.5%
Filipino	4,451 0.23%
Pakistani	1,596 0.08%
Arab	1,817 0.10%
Other Asian	5,244 0.28%
Black African	8,069 0.42%
Black Other	2,963 0.16%
Mixed	14,382 0.76%
Other Ethnicities	3,568 0.19%

(NISRA Census 2021 Ethnicity)

Sexual Orientati on	Organ- isation	Trusts/NI		Dpposite sex	Both sexes	Same sex	e I do r wish answ	to	Not assigne	ed
	Totals	1821	L	810	3	13	3	995	merged	
				44.5%	0.2%	0.7	% 54	4.6%		
	Census data	a 2021 Both	Do not wish to							
		Sexes	answe		ed Opposi	ite sex	Same sex	Not s	tated	
	CENSUS	0.75%	4.58%	0.17%	6 90.C)4%	1.17%	3.3	0%	
	2021	11,306	69,307	2,597	1,363	8,859	17,713	49,	961	
	(NISRA Censu	s 2021 Sexua	al Orienta	ition)	·		<u>.</u>	·		

Qualitative Data

There have been multiple engagement events to develop the draft design for a Pathology Special Agency, during which the Programme asked stakeholders about the potential impacts of the design. Feedback from stakeholders has helped the Programme Team to complete this Equality Impact Assessment, as well as a Rural Needs Assessment and a Data Privacy Impact Screening.

The process is documented in more detail <u>elsewhere in this document</u>. In summary, it involved:

- Two virtual regional stakeholder workshops focusing on the potential equality impacts were held in February 2024
- Feedback from these workshops was shared with Programme Design Workstreams and Design Team in February and March 2024, who took account of stakeholder feedback in developing the design.
- Consultation was undertaken on the draft design over the month of June 2024. Feedback from the consultation has been used to help further shape the design and this EQIA.
- The Programme also obtained advice from Business Services Organisation (BSO) Equality Team to help them plan for the completion of this EQIA form in a manner compliant with the requirements of the exercise.

Potential Impacts Detected

Through this process, the main impact detected in general (which is considered for each Section 75 group in the next section) is that for some staff there may be a requirement to engage more with staff from other localities by participating in regional meetings (in person or via MS Teams) or via email. These staff are:

- Staff involved in delivery of functions related to business planning, support service or transformation; and
- Senior staff already required to engage outside their locality e.g. through NI Pathology Network meetings.

This is anticipated to mean change for a very small number of staff, and the change is most likely to mean the use of MS Teams rather than frequent travel to other locations. For these groups, any requirement to take part in regional meetings, either using MS Teams or by travelling in person where preferred by the staff member, or where absolutely necessary for the needs of the business, would be supported by the use of

remote technologies such as MS Teams to minimise or negate any need to travel in person, or support to travel in person in line with HSC norms and policies. Any such development would be supported by the provision of appropriate training, where required.

Detailed mapping to identify the exact staff impacted in these groups will take place at the beginning of Phase 2 if it goes ahead, to allow them to take part in and influence design.

Any requirement to travel more is only likely for senior staff who need to attend meetings at HQ in person, where necessary. This may have an impact on section 75 groups as follows:

- **Political opinion** if required to travel to locations in an area of different political background to their own.
- **Dependent status** if required to travel at times that impacts ability to care for dependents.
- **Disability** if required to travel to locations that are inaccessible or present any other challenge with respect to an individual's disability, including method of transport or the need for assistance to travel or utilising virtual meeting technology.
- **Ethnicity** if required to travel to locations where they feel or experience they may have any issues relating to their ethnicity.

The Agency would develop policy, and put in place appropriate measures, to mitigate against any negative impact that any members of these groups might experience as a result of this business need. These measures and policies would be designed in conjunction with representatives from these groups, and other stakeholders, during detailed design in Phase 2 of the Programme.

For some, it could be the case that an increased requirement for use of MS Teams and similar technologies may encounter a lack of experience and thus low confidence in using these technologies. The Blueprint programme would mitigate this by ensuring that all staff receive the appropriate training and support in the use of such systems. It will also require the new Agency to develop and implement policies to cover responsibilities surrounding remote working to ensure that expectations are clear. The Programme has noted that the use of technology to facilitate remote working is already the norm for the vast majority of NI Pathology Network meetings and no difficulties relevant to section 75 groups have been reported to the Programme in respect of this way of working. This indicates that this may have a minor impact, if any, for senior staff.

Some staff voiced concern that they may lose or stop being part of established personal networks of trust with the users of the service within the workplace.

These established networks will remain unchanged, and staff will continue to work in the same locations and will be part of the same teams. Where staff are involved in working in HSC Trust groups where they represent pathology services at those groups, the Agency design would want that engagement to continue, if possible, to maintain strong working linkages between HSC Trusts and the Agency. No impact on section 75 groups has been detected in relation to this.

During consultation on the design, the Programme heard how some staff may experience varying degrees of anxiety related to the changes taking place. The programme, through its design, would endeavour to utilise

any resource possible including those already available to staff through their employer, to ensure staff are supported.

The following section considers the different needs, experiences, and priorities of each of the Section 75 categories in relation to this policy or decision and what equality issues emerge from this.

Category	Needs and Experiences
Gender	There is no data to suggest that the needs and experiences of staff differ on the basis
	of gender in relation to this policy.
	In pathology, there is a slightly higher percentage of staff that identify as female
	compared to the census levels. It is not anticipated that any gender would be
	negatively impacted by this change.
Age	There is no data to suggest that the needs and experiences of staff will differ on the basis of age in relation to this policy.
	The Census data gives 5 age bands; however, the data obtained for the Programme was able to capture additional bands due to employment ages of staff within HSC Trusts and NIBTS. To compare the average numbers, the demographic does balance, on average, with consensus figures.
Religion	There is no data to suggest that the needs and experiences of staff differ based on religion in relation to this policy.
Political	There is little data to suggest that the needs and experiences of staff differ based on
Opinion	political opinion. Only one potential need was identified where there may be a
	requirement to participate in occasional regional meetings. This may include
	travelling to other HSC locations or attending remotely via MS Teams for a very small number of staff.
Marital Status	There is no data to suggest that the needs and experiences of staff will differ on the basis of marital status in relation to this policy.
Dependent	There is little data to suggest that the needs and experiences of staff will differ on the
Status	basis of dependents. Only one potential need was identified where there may be a
	requirement to participate in occasional regional meetings. This may include
	travelling to other HSC locations or attending remotely via MS Teams for a very small
	number of staff.
	Some staff voiced concerns that shift rostering undertaken by a new pathology
	Agency staff who are not as supportive or sympathetic to their needs as the current
	rostering staff are, may negatively impact their caring responsibilities. In fact, this impact would not materialise since rostering would continue to be carried out locally by the same staff.
Disability	There is little data to suggest that the needs and experiences of staff will differ on the
Disconity	basis of disability. Only one potential need was identified where there may be a

	requirement to participate in occasional regional meetings. This may include travelling to other HSC locations or attending remotely via MS Teams for a very small number of staff. As can be seen from the quantitative data, over 50% of the population identify as having some form of disability. Many disabilities can be accommodated in the workplace through personalised solutions and, for existing employees, these will already be in place and would continue within the new Agency.
	There is no new technology being introduced as part of this Programme.
	Introduction of, and reliance on, digital collaboration tools like MS Teams is already in place and widely used in HSC Trusts and NIBTS. A small number of staff may be required to participate in occasional regional meetings as a result of this change, which may include travelling to other HSC locations or attending remotely via MS Teams. For some staff, this may pose problems if those staff have a disability that impacts their ability to travel to meetings or use such technologies.
	If it is decided by the Minister to proceed with detailed design and transition to a Pathology Agency, the Programme team will:
	• Consider the needs of people who have a disability and involve them in the design of the new systems and processes within the Agency.
	 Ensure that solutions are compliant with best practice and standards for appropriate disabilities.
	• Provide appropriate training during transition and appropriate support for those with a disability. The team will encourage all those with difficulties in working with the technology, irrespective of ability, to come forward so the issue can be identified and resolved through use of accessibility tools or more personalised training. These sessions could be alternative learning such as eLearning, bench videos, FAQs, and revised SoP's (if required) or ad-hoc training sessions as per the requirements of the user.
	• Provide tools where the risk of not being face to face can be mitigated by recording of the meeting and automated provision of real-time transcriptions.
	It is likely that if a regional HQ is to be established, it will offer remote working. Of the existing staff, Senior Managers would be most likely required to attend meetings there which may take place either remotely or in person. These staff already attend regional meetings, either in person or using remote access technology like MS Teams. As part of design, relevant considerations will be made for any staff disability requirements in conjunction with relevant staff and others, as required.
Ethnicity	There is little data to suggest that the needs and experiences of staff will differ on the
	basis of ethnicity. Only one potential need was identified where there may be a
	requirement to participate in occasional regional meetings. This may include travelling to other HSC locations or attending remotely via MS Teams for a very small number of staff.

Any gaps in evidence to assess the impact of the programme/activity.

No gaps have been detected, however detailed mapping to identify the exact staff impacted in these groups who may be required to collaborate regionally in the context of a Pathology Agency will take place

at the beginning of Phase 2, if that goes ahead. The purpose of that would be to quantify in more detail the estimated number and location of staff, and to allow impacted individuals to take part in and influence design.

E. EqIA Outcome

Having considered:

- the evidence set out in section D in relation to the Section 75 Groups
- the potential impact of the programme in general

the potential impacts on section 75 groups are viewed to be minor and can be effectively mitigated in design for the operating arrangements of a Pathology Agency during detailed design in Phase 2.

It is, therefore, recommended that the Programme continues through to Phase 2 and applies the principles and mitigations set out in section F in development of the detailed design for a Pathology Special Agency.

Summary of impact:

The main impact detected in general is that, for some staff, there may be a requirement to engage more with staff from other localities by participating in regional meetings (in person or via MS Teams) or via email:

- for some groups of staff involved in delivery of functions related to business planning, support services or transformation.
- for senior staff already required to engage outside their locality e.g. through NI Pathology Network meetings.

This may have an impact on section 75 groups in particular:

- **Political opinion** if required to travel to locations in an area of different political background to their own
- **Dependent status** if required to travel at times that impact their ability to care for dependents.
- **Disability** if required to travel to locations that are inaccessible or present any other challenge with respect to an individual's disability, including method of transport or the need for assistance to travel or utilising virtual meeting technology.
- **Ethnicity** if required to travel to locations where they feel or experience they may have any issues relating to their ethnicity

F. Action and Monitoring

With regards to Section 75 Groups who may experience impact:

Following the mapping exercise¹ planned to take place at the start of Phase 2, if that goes ahead, the Programme will engage directly with impacted staff during Phase 2 to determine and meet their needs and enable them to input and influence the detailed design.

Appropriate support and training in the use of MS Teams or other remote meeting technology for impacted staff who need to use it will be provided if an Agency is to be established and during Phase 2, where required, to facilitate engagement in design.

Appropriate arrangements will be put in place to support and enable people who have a disability to attend meetings in person or remotely, in line with their own needs and business requirements.

With regards to all staff:

Communicate the agreed principles for staff set out by the DoH and evident in the design.

Monitoring

- 1. During Phase 2, if that goes ahead, the programme plan will include actions to build in the mitigations listed above.
- 2. The actions will be monitored alongside progress to deliver the programme plan.
- 3. Any new impacts identified during Phase 2 will be included in an updated version of this assessment and it will be revisited at the end of Phase 2 alongside the business case and decision whether to provide funds to enable the Agency to operate.

G. Date of Next Review

End of Phase 2 of the Programme (anticipated as end of March 2027)

H. Authors

EqIA undertaken by (name and job title):

- Jim Poole, PA Consulting.
- Tanya McMinn, Senior Project Manager, Pathology Blueprint Programme.
- Sarah Buckley, Senior Programme Manager, Pathology Blueprint Programme.
- Data provided by HSC Trusts and NIBTS.
- Qualitative information provided by Programme Stakeholders.

¹ See p17 'Any gaps detected...' section

Annexes

A - Letter from SRO to Chief Executives and Staff – Decision to proceed with the design of a Pathology Special Agency



B – Questions included in the online feedback form for responses to EqIA Public

Consultation

Please use the feedback form to submit your responses, available via this link

1. In your opinion, did we identify all of the possible Impacts?
○ Yes
○ No
Other
2. If you selected 'Other' for Question 1, please specify below
3. Do you have any examples of other potential impacts?

C – Equality Screening on Proposals for Pathology Modernisation 2016

